1980

Western Surety Company v. Clarence H. Redding, Tom G. Redding, and Bert W. Redding, Individually : Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiff-Respondent Western Surety Company (hereinafter "Western Surety") seeks indemnity from Defendants-Appellants Clarence H. Redding, Tom G. Redding and Bert M. Redding (hereinafter "Reddings") for sums paid by it under a Motor Vehicle Dealer's Bond issued to Redding Associates, Inc. on the basis of indemnity agreements contained in Reddings' bond applications.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

On June 7, 1978, Western Surety filed a Complaint in the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County seeking judgment for \$2,550.00 against Reddings based upon a claim it had paid to another automobile dealer as surety for Redding Associates, Inc. Since the facts were not disputed, and since

determination of the case turned upon interpretation of the provisions of the bond and the Motor Vehicle Dealers' Act, Chapter 3 of Title 41, Utah Code Annotated (1953, as amended), the parties entered into a written stipulation of facts. Cross motions for summary judgment were heard on oral argument on November 23, 1979. There was no transcript of the hearing. The court ultimately entered an Order and Judgment in favor of Western Surety on January 25, 1980.*

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants seek reversal of the lower court's order of January 25, 1980 granting Respondent's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying Appellants' Motion for Summary Judgment. Appellants further seek an order directing summary judgment in their favor as a matter of law.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Under Utah's Motor Vehicle Dealers' Act, UTAH CODE ANN. § 41-3-16(1) (1953, as amended) all automobile dealers must procure a surety bond as a condition of becoming licensed and doing business. In February, 1976, the Reddings made the appropriate applications, and a bond was issued by Western

*The court had initially entered judgment for Western Surety on November 30, 1979. Reddings subsequently objected to the content of the Judgment because it did not reflect a finding from the bench that they had neither engaged in fraud nor had fraudulent intent in the subject transaction and, further, that judgment was granted in favor of Western Surety solely on the court's finding that Reddings had furnished an automobile purchaser with defective title contrary to the requirement of UTAH CODE ANN. § 41-3-2 (1953) R. 62. The January 25, 1980 amended Order and Judgment incorporated those findings. (R. 64.)

Surety to Redding Associates, Inc., a Utah corporation, on February 17, 1976. Copies of the applications and bond are appended as Exhibits "A" and "B", respectively.

In August, 1976, Redding Associates, Inc., doing business as Redding Auto Sales, purchased a 1972 CJ-5 Jeep bearing Alabama title, paying fair value for the vehicle. Thereafter, Auto Exchange, Inc., another automobile dealer, became interested in buying the jeep from Redding Auto Sales. On August 27, 1976, in contemplation of the purchase, Nick Smith, an employee of Auto Exchange, accompanied Clarence H. Redding to the Utah State Department of Motor Vehicles (DMV) office at 2100 South and State Streets in Salt Lake City. The certificate of title was presented to the clerk at the DMV, who examined it and informed both men that the title was in good order. (R. 34.) On that same day, Auto Exchange purchased the jeep from Redding Auto Sales and received the title.

Auto Exchange then resold the jeep. Subsequent to that sale, it was discovered that the jeep was a stolen vehicle. The jeep, then located in California, was returned to the lienholder of the true owner. (R. 36.)

Auto Exchange thereafter made written demand upon Western Surety to make good its loss under Redding Associates' Motor Vehicle Dealer's Bond. Western Surety, without making any demand upon Reddings, and without contacting or consulting them, paid Auto Exchange's claim for \$2,500.00. On March 8, 1978, Western

Surety made demand upon Reddings to indemnify it, pursuant to the indemnity agreements in Reddings' bond applications, for the \$2,550.00 paid to Auto Exchange. Reddings, believing that the claim was not covered by the surety bond and that they had a meritorious defense to Auto Exchange's claim, refused to indemnify Western Surety. On June 7, 1978, Western Surety filed the action resulting in this appeal.

ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the lower court erred in finding that the loss arose because Reddings violated UTAH CODE ANN. § 41-3-2 (1953) by giving another automobile dealer defective title to a vehicle when they neither knew that the vehicle was stolen nor that title was defective.

2. Whether the lower court erred by failing to find that Western Surety acted as a volunteer when it paid Auto Exchange, thereby relieving Reddings of any duty to indemnify it.

3. Whether the lower court erred by failing to find that any obligation that may be owing to Western Surety by virtue of its payment to Auto Exchange is the debt of a bona fide corporation, for which Reddings are not individually liable.

ARGUMENT

(Preliminary Statement)

This is not an action in which an injured purchaser seeks damages from a used car dealer from whom he bought a stolen

automobile. The purchaser here, another auto dealer, chose instead to assert its claim directly against Reddings' surety. As a result, this case involves a claim for indemnity arising from the relationship of principal and surety — a relationship mandated by statute for automobile dealers.

UTAH CODE ANN. § 41-3-16 (1953) requires that automobile dealers procure a bond as a condition of doing business. While dealers may be subject to broad liability in their transactions with purchasers, the surety's obligation on the bond is expressly limited by the Code. Stated simply, the question here is whether, on the facts of this case, Western Surety had any obligation under Reddings' bond to pay the claim of Auto Exchange, or whether in so doing it acted as a volunteer.

POINT I

REDDINGS' INNOCENT CONDUCT IN THE
SALE OF THE STOLEN JEEP TO AUTO
EXCHANGE IS NOT WITHIN THE AMBIT
OF WESTERN SURETY'S OBLIGATION
UNDER UTAH CODE ANN. § 41-3-18.

A. Utah law specifically limits the rights of action against a surety for losses sustained in transactions with automobile dealers. The dealer's bond that Reddings obtained from Western Surety was the standard form of bond prescribed by UTAH CODE ANN. § 41-3-16(1) (1953). As mandated by that statute, the bond was "approved as to form by the attorney general of the State of Utah, and conditioned that said applicant

shall conduct his business as a dealer without fraud or fraudulent representation, and without the violation of any of the provisions of this act."

The rights of action available against an automobile dealer's surety on the bond are set forth in UTAH CODE ANN. § 41-3-18, which provides:

If any person shall suffer loss or damage by reason of fraud, fraudulent representation or violation of any of the provisions of this act by a licensed dealer or one of his salesmen . . . , such person shall have a right of action against such dealer, and/or the automobile salesman guilty of the fraud, fraudulent representation or violation of any of the provisions of this act, and/or the sureties upon their respective bonds.

It is clear from the language of § 41-3-18 that the legislature, in conjunction with its regulation of automobile dealers, intended to confer certain rights and remedies upon persons who conduct business with licensed dealers, including a direct right of action upon the dealer's bond. It is equally clear from the language of the statute that the legislature intended to limit the scope of protection under the dealer's bond to situations involving loss resulting from either the dealer's fraud or his violation of the statutory provisions regulating the conduct of his business.*

These limitations on the statutory right of action were recognized by this court in Lawrence v. Ward, 5 U.2d 257, 300

*The statute, of course, does not preclude other causes of action which an injured purchaser could assert against the dealer.

P.2d 619 (1956). After holding that the dealer's bond "was intended to protect all persons doing business with another in his capacity as a licensed motor vehicle dealer," the Court went on to examine the transactions in that case "to determine whether they fall within the purview of U.C.A. 1953, 41-3-18 . . ." for which recovery could be had on the surety bond. 300 P.2d at 622.

In the instant case, the lower court specifically found that Reddings "engaged in no fraud or fraudulent intent in the specific transaction in question." (R. 64.) Therefore, in order to sustain the trial court's judgment, liability must be predicated upon some violation of the act resulting in a loss which Western Surety was obligated under the statute to pay.

B. There is no strict liability under the Motor Vehicle Dealer's Act for innocent delivery of a defective certificate of title. The lower court granted summary judgment for Western Surety based solely on its finding that Reddings "supplied the purchaser of the automobile in question [with] a defective title contrary to the requirement of Utah Code Annotated, Chapter 3 of Title 41 (1953, as amended)." (R. 64-65.) Although the written judgment refers only generally to violation of Chapter 3 of Title 41 (R. 65), Western Surety argued below, and the court ruled from the bench, that the specific provision violated by Reddings was UTAH CODE ANN. § 41-3-2 (1953). That section provides:

Every person, firm, or corporation upon the sale and delivery of any used or secondhand motor vehicle shall within forty-eight hours thereof deliver to the vendee, and endorsed according to law, a certificate of title, issued for said vehicle by the state tax commission.

It was Western Surety's contention that delivery of title under § 41-3-2 "implies that this title should be good and sufficient by law on the vehicle" (R. 50.) In other words, according to Western Surety, delivery of defective title - even innocently - is no delivery at all within the meaning of § 41-3-2.

In determining whether Reddings' delivery of the defective title was a violation of § 41-3-2 and, if so, the type of violation for which a right of action exists against the surety under § 41-3-18, the underlying purpose of Chapter 3 of Title 41 must be considered. The Motor Vehicle Dealer's Act is a regulatory statute designed to govern automobile dealers in the conduct of their business. It provides criminal sanctions for violation of its provisions (§ 41-3-2) and specifies conduct which will be deemed unlawful and a violation of the Act. The language of § 41-3-23, enumerating prohibited acts and omissions, requires that a dealer act "knowingly" or "intentionally" or "unfairly" in many instances. The intent of the legislature in regulating automobile dealers was to protect the public from fraudulent acts and intentional misconduct by sellers of new and used cars.*

★

UTAH CODE ANN. § 41-3-1 (repealed 1967), which dealt with used cars brought into the state for resale, required that the dealer's bond cover losses occasioned by simple failure of title as well as fraud and breach of warranty. That provision was repealed in 1967.

The lower court apparently concluded that even innocent delivery of defective title violated § 41-3-2, requiring 48-hour delivery of the certificate, and that such violation conferred a right of action against Reddings' surety on the bond. Such interpretation not only fails to consider the goal of the act to prevent fraud and intentional misconduct by dealers, but also fails to account for the only provision of Chapter 3, Title 41 dealing with stolen vehicles. Under § 41-3-23(3), it is a violation of the act for a dealer

[t]o knowingly purchase, sell, transport, dismantle or otherwise acquire, dispose of or handle a stolen vehicle. [Emphasis added.]

It is uncontroverted that Reddings had no knowledge at the time of the transaction that the jeep had been stolen. Without the requisite scienter, there could be no violation of § 41-3-23(3). To maintain that innocent handling of a stolen vehicle does not violate the act and does not confer a right of action under § 41-3-18, but that innocent transfer of the certificate of title in the same transaction does violate the act and does confer such a right of action places an inharmonious and irreconcilable construction on the two provisions. In view of the express requirement that handling a stolen vehicle be "knowing" to constitute a violation, there can be no strict liability where the dealer has made a good faith effort to comply with § 41-3-2 by delivering a title valid on its face and found to be in good order by the Department of Motor Vehicles. A finding of liability in this case would be equivalent to holding that a dealer and his surety are title insurers of automobiles, regardless of their knowledge on the conduct of the buyer.

C. Even if Reddings' delivery of the defective title was a violation of the act, Auto Exchange was precluded by its own conduct from maintaining an action under UTAH CODE ANN. § 41-3-18.

The right of action against a dealer or his surety provided by §41-3-18 is available only where the loss or damage is suffered by reason of the dealer's fraud or violation of the act. It is apparent from the facts of the subject transaction that the loss incurred by Auto Exchange resulted from its own conduct in accepting the certificate of title, and not as a result of any violation of § 41-3-2 that Reddings may innocently have committed.

The facts show that an employee of Auto Exchange went to the Department of Motor Vehicles with Clarence Redding to ascertain the validity of the Alabama title. The clerk's representation that the title was in good order was made to both men. Based upon that representation, the sale of the jeep and delivery of the title to Auto Exchange was consummated on the same day. Both dealers had access to the same information and chose to conduct their transaction in reliance thereon. The loss which Auto Exchange later sustained was incurred through its own conduct; if there was any violation of the act by Reddings, Auto Exchange acquiesced in that violation and waived its right to claim damages as a result thereof. In Lawrence v. Ward, 5 Utah 2d 257, 300 P.2d 619 (1956), this Court was presented

with a claim against a dealer's surety bond predicated upon violation of § 41-3-2 for failure of the dealer to deliver the certificate of title to the purchaser within forty-eight hours. The claimant bank had issued a check in the names of the dealer and the purchaser of an automobile in exchange for the purchaser's promissory note. It thereafter cashed the check bearing only the dealer's endorsement. When the dealer subsequently could not deliver the certificate of title, the purchaser refused to endorse the check, which had already been paid to the dealer. In rejecting the bank's claim for damages notwithstanding the dealer's complete failure to deliver the title, this Court said:

It was obvious to the bank that the check was not properly endorsed and it had no right to rely on the expectation that the signature of the co-payee could be obtained at a later date. The loss of the bank occurred by reason of its own negligence and prior to the time when it was discovered that United Auto Sales could not deliver title, and it cannot now obtain judgment against the bond.

300 P.2d at 622-623 (Emphasis added.)

The same reasoning is equally applicable in this case. Auto Exchange could not have obtained a judgment against Reddings' surety bond since the loss occurred by reason of its own conduct and not in reliance upon the acts of Reddings.

POINT II

WESTERN SURETY ACTED AS A
VOLUNTEER WHEN IT HONORED THE
CLAIM OF AUTO EXCHANGE; IN SO DOING,
IT RELIEVED REDDINGS OF ANY
DUTY TO INDEMNIFY IT.

The applications for Redding Associates' surety bond provide that in consideration of Western's issuing the bond, the applicants "agree to indemnify . . . the said Company from and against any liability, and for all lost, cost, charges, suits, damages, counsel fees and expenses of whatever kind or nature which said company shall at any time sustain or incur, for or by reason, or in consequence of said company having become surety" (Emphasis added.)

It is hornbook law that "[i]ndemnity against losses does not cover losses for which the indemnitee is not liable to a third person, and which he improperly pays." 41 Am. Jur. 2d, Indemnity §33. Western Surety voluntarily settled Auto Exchange's claim without making any demand upon Reddings and without contacting or consulting them. In so doing it covered a loss which was not within the scope of either party's obligations under UTAH CODE ANN. § 41-3-18 (1953). In Carson v. Geis Irrigation Co. of Kansas, Inc., 211 Kan. 406, 507 P.2d 295, (1973), the court said:

While the fact of voluntary payment does not negative the right to indemnity; legal liability, i.e., proof by a preponderance of the evidence of the obligation to plaintiff or a third

party that cannot be legally resisted is a fundamental prerequisite to recovery by an indemnitee who has made a voluntary payment. [Citations omitted.]

Id. at 300.

Western Surety either failed to properly investigate the facts of the transaction or to understand the legal ramifications. In either event, by paying a claim which did not arise through either Reddings' fraud or violation of the Motor Vehicle Dealer's Act, it foreclosed defenses that could have been asserted against Auto Exchange. Because Western Surety acted as a volunteer on an obligation it legally could have resisted, it has no right to indemnity from Reddings on the claim.

POINT III

ANY OBLIGATION THAT MAY BE OWING
TO WESTERN SURETY BY VIRTUE OF ITS
PAYMENT TO AUTO EXCHANGE IS
THE DEBT OF A BONA FIDE CORPORATION,
FOR WHICH REDDINGS ARE NOT LIABLE.

In their Answer to Western Surety's Complaint, Reddings denied that they had applied for the bond in their individual capacities or that they had any obligation to indemnify Western Surety thereunder. At oral argument on the motions for summary judgment, counsel for the Reddings argued that any obligation owing to Western Surety in this matter was the corporate debt of Redding Associates, Inc. and not that of the individual defendants. However, the issue was not addressed by the lower court in its ruling.

Western Surety at all times was aware that it was dealing with a corporate entity and not with the Reddings as individuals. On each application for the surety bond, the box marked "Corporation" was checked. In the space for the name of the obligee each application was marked "dba Redding Auto Sales, Inc." Although the applications were executed by the Reddings without reference to their corporate capacity, there is no indication that the Reddings, in signing on behalf of the corporate applicant, intended to become personal guarantors of the corporation's indemnity agreement. And where there is doubt or uncertainty as to the intent of an indemnity agreement, it is the policy of this Court to construe the contract strictly against the party preparing it. Union Pac. R.R. Co. v. El Paso Natural Gas Co., 17 Utah 2d 255, 408 P.2d 910, 914 (1965). Accord, Howe Rents Corp. v. Worthen, 18 Utah 2d 263, 420 P.2d 848 (1966). The applications and bond were standard Western Surety forms.

The bond was applied for and issued on behalf of the corporation. It is clear that the Reddings as individuals cannot possibly be held liable for any obligation arising in connection with the corporation's surety bond.