1980

Western Surety Company v. Clarence H. Redding, Tom G. Redding, and Bert W. Redding, Individually : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

NATURE OF THE CASE

Defendant-Appellants Redding, operating a used car dealership, sold a stolen vehicle with a defective title to Auto Exchange for \$2,550.00. Following this sale the car was recovered by the rightful owners and Auto Exchange made demand from Plaintiff-Respondent Western Surety Company under the Reddings Motor Vehicle Dealer Bond for its out of pocket loss on the vehicle of \$2,550.00. Western Surety Company paid this sum in good faith to the Auto Exchange and now seeks indemnification from the Reddings pursuant to the Motor Vehicle Dealer Bond Agreements.

DISPOSITION OF LOWER COURT

On November 23, 1979, cross motions for summary judgment were heard on oral argument and on stipulated facts before the Honorable Homer Wilkinson, District Court Judge, who granted the motion of Plaintiff-Respondent Western Surety Company for summary judgment, and held that "Plaintiff Western Surety Company shall have judgment in its favor and against the Defendants . . . Redding, both jointly and severally, in the sum of \$2,550.00 in indemnification for payments made by Plaintiff Western Surety Company to Auto Exchange pursuant to provisions of the Motor Vehicle Dealer Bond issued to Defendant by Plaintiff..."(R. 65).

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Respondent seeks a ruling affirming the Judgment rendered by the District Court.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A written stipulation of facts was filed with the lower court for the purpose of determining the summary judgment motions filed by both parties. (R.35-46.) These stipulated facts indicate that the "defendants Clarence H. Redding, Tom G. Redding, and Bert W. Redding were engaged in the business of automobile sales . . . " and that "on February 6, 1976, defendants . . . made written application to plaintiff (Western Surety Company) for a surety bond . . . in the amount of \$5,000.00 . . . " (R. 35).

"Defendants in consideration of the issuance of said bond . . . by plaintiff, agreed to indemnify plaintiff and save it harmless from any and all damages, costs and charges which plaintiff may sustain as surety upon said bond, for defendants' failure to observe and comply with the requirements and provisions of Chapter 3 of Title 41 of the Utah Code Annotated, (1953), as amended." (R.36).

"That, on or about August 27, 1976, the defendants, doing business as Redding Auto Sales, sold a 1972 CJ5 Jeep to Auto Exchange, for the sum of \$2,550.00." (R.36).

Subsequently . . . "the Jeep was found to have been a stolen vehicle with a defective title. The vehicle was recovered in California and was returned to . . . the lienholder for the rightful owner . . . ". (R.36).

"Auto Exchange made written demand upon plaintiff as surety for defendants under the Motor Vehicle Dealer Bond . . . inasmuch as said vehicle had been stolen and had a defective title at the time of the sale by defendants to Auto Exchange." (R.37).

Plaintiff, as surety for defendants, indemnified the Auto Exchange in the sum of \$2,550.00 . . . " and obtained a "Release executed by Auto Exchange which releases all claims against the plaintiff and defendants arising out of the sale of the said automobile". (R.37,46).

"Plaintiff . . . made demand upon the defendants to indemnify plaintiff for the \$2,550.00 in damages which plaintiff had sustained as surety upon the bond issued to defendants." (R.37).

Defendants refused to reimburse plaintiff alleging "that they had no knowledge of the defective title at the time of sale", and as a result of that denial this lawsuit was commenced. (R.37).

Each of the above facts were stipulated to and are not at issue. Facts not stipulated to include the affidavit of Clarence Redding which alleges that at the time of the sale of the Jeep to Auto Exchange an employee of Auto Exchange accompanied him to the Motor Vehicle Division when the title was checked out. Western Surety Company has no knowledge of the truth or falsity of this allegation as it was not a party to that transaction.

The Reddings also have included in their fact statement the unsupported allegation that "Western Surety , without making any demand upon Reddings, and without contacting or consulting them, paid Auto Exchange's claim for \$2,550.00 . . ." This statement is not correct as noted in the attached Appendix 1 which establishes by registered receipt that the Reddings did receive notice of the claim on or about April 15, 1977, prior to any payment on the Bond to Auto Exchange.

Motions for Summary Judgment based upon these facts, were filed by both parties and after a hearing thereon without a transcript, the Honorable Homer Wilkinson, Judge, entered an order granting plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and denying defendant's corresponding motion.

POINT I.

THE LOWER COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT
THE REDDINGS SALE OF THE STOLEN
VEHICLE WITH DEFECTIVE TITLE TO
AUTO EXCHANGE VIOLATED THE MOTOR
VEHICLE DEALERS ACT.

On August 27, 1976, when the Reddings sold the Jeep to Auto Exchange, Reddings in conveying title implicitly represented that the title so conveyed was good and legally sufficient.

Section 41-3-2 Utah Code Annotated (1953) requires,

" Every person, firm, or corporation
upon the sale and delivery of any
used or second hand motor vehicle
shall within forty-eight hours
thereof deliver to the vendee,
and endorsed according to law,
a Certificate of Title, issued
for said vehicle by the State Tax
Commission. (Emphasis added.)

This statute in requiring a motor vehicle dealer to convey title to the vendee endorsed according to law, certainly implies that the title so issued should be valid and legally sufficient.

In the present case, the facts are undisputed that defendants Redding did not provide a good and sufficient Certificate of Title to the CJ5 Jeep to Auto Exchange, inasmuch as the vehicle had been stolen and had faulty title and registration.

Section 41-3-16 Utah Code Annotated (1953) requires that motor vehicle dealers obtain a good and sufficient bond with corporate surety thereon and "conditioned that said applicant shall conduct his business as a dealer without fraud or fraudulent representation, and without the violation of any of the provisions of this act."

Section 41-3-18 Utah Code Annotated (1953) further states:

" If any person shall suffer any loss or damage by reason of fraud, fraudulent representation or violation of any of the provisions of this act by a licensed dealer... such persons shall have a right of action against such dealer... guilty of the fraud, fraudulent representation or violation of any of the provisions of this act, and/or the sureties upon their respective bond. (Emphasis added.)

These statutes are necessary to protect innocent purchasers from fraud in the conveyance of title, or from failure of title. In this case a valid Certificate of Title was not provided to Auto Exchange, despite representations to the contrary, and damages resulted. Because of the false representation of good title, together with the failure of the Reddings to provide good and sufficient title within forty-eight hours following the sale as required by statute, the Reddings should be responsible pursuant to the provisions of

the Indemification Agreement to reimburse Western Surety Company for payments expended on their behalf.

The Reddings maintain that although good title was represented to Auto Exchange in the sale of the Jeep, and although the title was in fact defective at the time of sale, the Reddings lacked actual knowledge of the defective title and as a result should not be liable to indemnify Western Surety Company for payments on the bond to Auto Exchange.

Many courts have recognized that in an equitable action such as one for indemnity, knowledge of falsity with regard to false representations is not required.

In 37 Am.Jur. 2nd Section 220 it states:

" As a general rule, however, courts of equity will grant appropriate relief in cases involving transactions arising from misstatements, even though no fraudulent intent on the part of the person making the representations is shown, and even though he made them innocently, as a result of misapprehension or mistake. All that need be shown under such circumstances is that the representations are false and that they actually mislead the person to whom they are made. Thus, the prevailing opinion seems to be that even where a party innocently misrepresents a fact by mistake, especially if it operates as a surprise and imposition on the other party, the latter is entitled to relief.

Applying this principle to the present case, even if the Reddings innocently represented that the title on the

Jeep was good, wherein in fact it was defective, a misrepresentation was made which ultimately caused Auto Exchange to sustain a \$2,250.00 loss when the vehicle was reclaimed by the rightful owner. Western Surety made payments under the bond to Auto Exchange in good faith, and should be entitled to indemnification on that bond.

POINT II.

EVEN IF THE REDDINGS DELIVERY OF DEFECTIVE TITLE DID NOT VIOLATE THE MOTOR VEHICLE DEALERS ACT, WESTERN SURETY IS ENTITLED TO RECOVER ALL MONEYS PAID IN THE GOOD FAITH SETTLEMENT OF THE CLAIM OF AUTO EXCHANGE UNDER THE GENERAL AGREEMENT OF INDEMNITY, EXECUTED BY THE REDDINGS.

In Point II of their brief, the Reddings allege that Western Surety acted as a volunteer when it honored the claim of Auto Exchange, and in so doing relieved Reddings of any duty of indemnification under the bond. This allegation totally ignores the provisions of the General Agreement of Indemnity, page 2 of the Appendix to this brief, which contract was entered into on February 13, 1976 by Bert W. Redding, Clarence H. Redding and Tom G. Redding as individual indemnitors and by Bert W. Redding as President of Redding Associates, Inc.

Paragraphs two and three of this Indemnification Agreement state as follows:

"SECOND: That the Company shall have the right, and is hereby authorized, but not required: To adjust, settle or compromise any claim, demand, suit or judgment upon said instrument... unless the Indemnitors shall, in writing, request the Company to litigate such claim or demand, or defend such suit..."

"THIRD: That liability of each Indemnitor hereunder shall extend to... all moneys paid by the Company in settlement or compromise of any claims, suits and judgments, in good faith, under the belief that it was liable therefor, whether liable or not, ..."

(Emphasis added.)

After Auto Exchange had filed a claim with Western Surety Company, a copy of that claim and notice was sent to the Reddings by Registered Mail. Attached as Appendix 1 is a copy of this letter of notification together with the return receipt signed by the President of Redding Associates, Inc. Bert W. Redding, on April 15, 1977.

Subsequently the Reddings failed to respond by writing as required by paragraph two cited above . . . and the Reddings never requested that the claim be defended against or indicated that any valid defense existed to their having conveyed defective title to a stolen vehicle to Auto Exchange. Inasmuch as Western Surety received no instructions or requests from the Reddings, its principals, as to the handling of the claim at issue, and inasmuch as it clearly appeared to Western Surety from the claim filed by Auto Exchange that the vehicle was in fact a stolen one with defective title at the time of its sale by Reddings to Auto Exchange, then because of these factors, Western Surety made a Good Faith settlement with Auto Exchange. In that settlement Western Surety took great care to obtain a complete release of all claims to protect the Reddings. (R. 46).

Paragraph three of the Indemnification Agreement

cited above, expressly requires the Reddings to indemnify Western Surety for all monies paid under the bond to Auto Exchange if the claim was paid in good faith and under the belief that the Reddings were liable under the claim. Thus under the Reddings Indemnification Agreement, if such a good faith settlement was made by Western Surety, it makes no difference whether the Reddings were ultimately liable for the claims of Auto Exchange.

Public policy encourages both prompt, and Good Faith payments to be made under Bonds; and when as in this case payment is made in good faith and under circumstances where the principal has failed to cooperate or indicate any defenses to the claim, the surety is entitled to indemnification for paid out claims.

POINT III.

THE REDDINGS BOTH IN THEIR BOND
APPLICATIONS AND IN THEIR AGREEMENTS
TO INDEMNIFY AGREED TO BE PERSONALLY
LIABLE FOR PAYMENTS MADE BY WESTERN
SURETY COMPANY ON THE BOND.

Point III of the Reddings brief alleges that "any obligation that may be owing to Western Surety by virtue of its payment to Auto Exchange is the debt of a bona fide corporation, for which Reddings are not personally or individually responsible." This position is clearly erroneous.

In the bond applications signed in February of 1976, Clarence H. Redding (R.39), Tom G. Redding (R.40); and Bert W. Redding (R.41) each filled out a personal financial statement and each agreed to be an indemnitor on the Bond. Paragraph two of each Bond Application states as follows:

" . . . we each jointly and severally agree to indemnify and keep indemnified the said Company from and against any liability, and all loss, cost, charges, suits . . . said Company shall incur . . . in consequence of said Company having become surety . . .

Similarly, Appendix 2, sets forth a separate signed document entitled General Agreement of Indemnity dated February 13, 1976, wherein Bert W. Redding, Clarence H. Redding and Tom G. Redding as individuals agreed to be personally responsible for payments made on the bond. It states:

" NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, the undersigned Applicant and Indemnitors (herein referred to as Indemnitor or Indemnitors) hereby agree and bind themselves, their heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns, jointly and severally, as follows, to-wit:

FIRST: To indemnify the Company from and against any and all liability, loss, costs, damages, attorneys' fees and expenses of whatever kind or nature which the Company may sustain or incur by reason or in consequence of executing on behalf of said Applicant-Principal any instrument or instruments, past, present or future, as Surety or Co-Surety, or amendments of same.

The provisions of the Bond Application and General Agreement to Indemnify cited above, clearly establish that each of the Reddings agreed to be personally and individually responsible for payments under the bond. As indemnitors on the bond, the Reddings should be required to reimburse Western Surety the \$2,550.00 paid on the bond to Auto Exchange.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the provisions of the Bond Applications and Indemnity Agreement entered into by the Reddings with Western Surety Company, Respondent Western Surety Company respectfully requests that the summary judgment rendered by the District Court in favor of Western Surety Company and against the Reddings be affirmed.